

Secretariat

GENERAL

ST/SG/AC.10/17 14 December 1990

Original: ENGLISH

COMMITTEE OF EXPERTS ON THE TRANSPORT OF DANGEROUS GOODS

REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE OF EXPERTS ON ITS SIXTEENTH SESSION (3-12 December 1990)

CONTENTS

	raragraph
ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA	3
ELECTION OF OFFICERS	4
ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS	5 - 6
RESOLUTION 1989/104 OF THE ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL COUNCIL	7
ACTIVITIES OF INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATIONS CONCERNED WITH REGULATIONS OR RECOMMENDATIONS ON THE TRANSPORT OF DANGEROUS GOODS AT AN INTERNATIONAL LEVEL	
(a) Class 1 - Explosives	22 - 30 31 - 42 43 - 58 59 - 60 61 - 68 69 - 75 76 - 80

CONTENTS (continued)

	Paragraphs
OTHER OUTSTANDING OR NEW PROPOSALS TO AMEND THE RECOMMENDATIONS	95 - 102
PUBLICATION OF THE REVISED RECOMMENDATIONS	103 - 106
PROGRAMME OF WORK	107 - 109
CALENDAR OF MEETINGS FOR THE BIENNIUM 1991/1992	110 - 112
ANY OTHER BUSINESS	113 - 116
REPORT TO THE ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL COUNCIL	117 - 121
TRIBUTE TO CAPTAIN H. WARDELMANN	122
ADOPTION OF THE REPORT	123
nt nt	
Annex 1 - Economic and Social Council Resolution 1991/ Work of the Committee of Experts on the Transport of Dangerous Goods	Addendum 1
Annex 2 - Adopted text and amendments to the Manual of Tests and Criteria (ST/SG/AC.10/11/Rev.1)	Addendum 1
Annex 3 - Adopted text and amendments to the Preface, Contents and chapters 1 and 2 of the Recommendations on the the Transport of Dangerous Goods (Sixth revised edition) (ST/SG/AC.10/Rev.6)	Addendum 2
Annex 4 - Adopted text and amendments to chapters 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7 of the Recommendations on the Transport of Dangerous Goods (Sixth revised edition) (ST/SG/AC.10/Rev.6)	Addendum 3
Annex 5 - Adopted text and amendments to chapters 9, 10, 11 12 and 13 of the Recommendations on the Transport of Dangersous Goods (Sixth revised edition) (ST/SG/AC.10/Rev.6)	Addendum 4
Annex 6 - Adopted text and amendments to chapter 14 of the Recommendations on the Transport of Dangerous Goods (Sixth revised edition) (ST/SG/AC.10/Rev.6)	Addendum 5
Annex 7 - Adopted text and amendments to chapters 15, 16 and 17 and Appendix of the Recommendations on the Transport of Dangerous Goods (Sixth revised edition) (ST/SG/AC.10/Rev.6)	Addendum 6

REPORT

- The Committee of Experts on the Transport of Dangerous Goods held its sixteenth session from 3 to 12 December 1990. The session was attended by experts from the following countries: Canada, China, France, Germany, India, Italy, Japan, Netherlands, Norway, Poland, Sweden, Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, United Kingdom, United States of America. Observers from Austria, Belgium, Finland, Nigeria, Panama, Portugal, Spain and Switzerland participated in accordance with Rule 72 of the Rules of Procedure of the Economic and Social Council. A representative of the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) was also present. Representatives of the following specialized agencies and intergovernmental organizations also attended the session: International Labour Organisation (ILO); International Maritime Organization (IMO); International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO); World Health Organization (WHO); European Economic Community (EEC); Central Office for International Railway Transport (OCTI); Universal Postal Union (UPU). Representatives of the following non-governmental organizations were also present: International Chamber of Commerce (ICC); International Chamber of Shipping (ICS); International Standardization Organization (ISO); International Air Transport Organisation (IATA); International Road Transport Union (IRU); European Council of Chemical Manufacturer's Federations (CEFIC); European Secretariat of Manufacturers of Light Metal Packagings (SEFEL); Permanent International Committee on Industrial Gases and Calcium-Carbide (CPI); Fibre Drum Technical Council (FDTC); International Confederation of Drum Reconditioners (ICDR); European Syndicate on Steel Drums (SEFA); Hazardous Materials Advisory Council (HMAC).
- 2. The session was opened by Mr. G. Dente, Director, ECE Transport Division.

ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA

3. The Committee of Experts adopted the revised provisional agenda prepared by the secretariat (ST/SG/AC.10/16/Rev.1).

ELECTION OF OFFICERS

4. Mr. L. Grainger (United Kingdom) and Mr. J. Monteith (Canada) were elected Chairman and Vice-Chairman respectively.

ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS

- 5. The Chairman stressed the need to keep to the proposed timetable. This had been arranged so that changes to the text of the Recommendations would be dealt with during the first week and other matters would be left to the second week.
- 6. The Director of the Transport Division stated that production of the seventh revised edition of the Recommendations would be accomplished much more speedily than had been the case with previous editions. This was due to increased computerization, which had been helped by the contribution of ENEA/DISP, the Italian Committee for Energy Research. It was intended that members would receive at least one copy each very shortly after the meeting of the Economic and Social Council in May 1991.

RESOLUTION 1989/104 OF THE ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL COUNCIL

7. Resolution 1989/104 was approved by the Economic and Social Council at its session in May 1989. As a result it was hoped that some progress on the problems of staffing the dangerous goods unit would be made through a revised budget.

ACTIVITIES OF INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATIONS CONCERNED WITH REGULATIONS OR RECOMMENDATIONS ON THE TRANSPORT OF DANGEROUS GOODS AT AN INTERNATIONAL LEVEL

- 8. Note was taken of document ST/SG/AC.10/R.271 where a member of the secretariat reported on his attendance at the seventy-seventh session of the International Labour Conference (1990). The representative of ILO then presented his document ST/SG/AC.10/R.338 which detailed subsequent action taken by his organization, including a proposed work plan. In elaborating about their future plans, the representative stated that there was no intention to duplicate or to conflict with the United Nations Recommendations. However, it was pointed out that while initial harmonization might be achieved, any ILO instrument would be fairly permanent while the United Nations Recommendations change every two years. The importance of a close contact between the United Nations experts and the ILO secretariat was acknowledged. This should be achieved by liaison between the secretariats and by the attendance of the ECE secretary at relevant ILO meetings.
- 9. The representative of ISO distributed an unofficial document which detailed relevant recent activities of his organization. In the case of gas cylinder labels, quality assurance programmes and flammability tests use had already been made of the ISO work during the current meeting. Again the need for close liaison between the two organizations was emphasized. The representative was requested to up-date his document in the next few months and to submit it formally to the Sub-Committee for their consideration during the next session.
- The representative of the Commission of the European Economic Community made a statement describing recent developments within the Commission on the subject of dangerous goods transport. The hazards posed by the movement of such goods were a fundamental concern of the Commission, the problems had to be addressed positively and without any avoidable delay. Whatever technical requirements were agreed, they should apply to national transport as well as to transborder traffic. The Commission has respect for and confidence in the work of the United Nations Committee of Experts. However, no matter how skilfully the rules were prepared, the success of the work would depend on whether those rules were correctly applied. The main factor in this was the quality of the personnel employed and the standard of training they received. It was perhaps regrettable if the Commission had to proceed with its own measures but sometimes this was difficult to avoid. It was over one year since a new dialogue had been established between the Commission and the United Nations Committee but little significant progress had resulted. The Commission felt it had to proceed with its own measures on genetically modified organisms as they were necessary for worker protection. However it was hoped that the two organizations would be able to work together in the future.

- 11. The expert from France, as Chairman of WP15, welcomed the statement by the representative of the European Commission, in particular that the Transport Directorate (DG VII) in Brussels is now taking into account the international regulations on the transport of dangerous goods. He regretted that good collaboration had not been the case with other Commission Directorates. He recalled that DG III in Brussels was currently preparing a directive on pressure vessels which was liable to apply to tank-vehicles, tank-containers, cylinders and packagings of dangerous goods capable of withstanding a pressure of 0.5 bar or above, and that this would lead to a duplication of international regulations for the same apparatus, thus causing difficulties for manufacturers and users without any improvement in safety. He was surprised that there had been no official liaison with WP15 about ADR on that important subject.
- 12. The representative of the European Commission replied that he was aware of the problem. He said that the directive being prepared would be of the "new approach" type, in other words very general, and ought not to hamper the application of RID/ADR. He had taken steps so that official liaison should take place, and told the Chairman of WP15 that he would be invited ex officio to a meeting which would be held in Brussels on 4 to 5 February next.
- The observer from IMO made a statement detailing the activities of his organization over the past two-year period. It was most unfortunate that a representative had not been able to attend the three sessions of the Sub-Committee, but this had been due solely to financial constraints. However, during that time IMO had incorporated into the IMDG Code the changes adopted at the last session of the Committee. It could now be said that the IMDG Code was 95% aligned with the United Nations Recommendations. Nevertheless, it was necessary to point out that IMO had adopted a new procedure for future changes. Urgent amendments affecting safety could be made at two-year intervals, less urgent but necessary amendments at four-year intervals, but any major revision would only be considered for incorporation after 10 years. Changes adopted at the current meeting would not be considered until January 1992 and would then not necessarily be put into the IMDG Code as urgent amendments. The 1990 edition of the Code had involved a complete revision and there was concern at the continual flow of amendments, some with little justification. The emphasis should now be on training rather than on minor improvements. IMO supported the work of the Committee and was alarmed at the actions of some other agencies in seeming to usurp the tasks of the Committee. This could lead to an undesirable proliferation of regulations.
- 14. The representative of ILO responded that, as far as his organisation was concerned, they fully appreciated IMO problems. Their draft convention was clearly worded as taking account of the United Nations Recommendations.
- 15. The expert from Italy expressed his concern at the IMO timetable. They were planning on major changes at 10 year intervals but the United Nations Committee was making changes every two years. Perhaps the Committee should reconsider, in agreement with ICAO, IMO and the RID/ADR Joint Meeting, its timescale? The experts from France and the United States of America shared that concern over the long delay before IMO would implement the next edition of the Recommendations. It was to be regretted that multimodal harmonization was to be held up in that way.

- 16. Closer liaison with the various modal organizations was clearly necessary. The Committee decided to request the secretariat to write to those organizations stressing that it was thought essential that they should be represented at all sessions of the Committee and its Sub-Committee in order that safe and harmonious regulations could be established and maintained world wide. It should be mentioned that not only would a secretariat member be welcomed at the United Nations sessions but also the Chairman or representative of their dangerous goods body.
- 17. The observer from ICAO made a statement on the work of his organization, which continued to support fully the efforts of the Committee. As far as possible ICAO believed in bringing problems to the United Nations rather than taking their own unilateral action; harmonization would be improved if all modes used that procedure. The decisions of the current session would be considered by the Dangerous Goods Panel at two sessions during 1991. Appropriate changes would be made to the next edition of the Technical Instructions for publication in 1992, coming into force on 1 January 1993. ICAO had just published the 1991 edition of its Emergency Reponse Guide and would soon have ready a revised series of training books.
- 18. The Chairman requested that, at future sessions of the Committee and Sub-Committee, if other organizations wished to make comprehensive statements, it would be preferable if they were submitted in writing beforehand. They could then be circulated and would reach a wider audience.
- 19. A representative of UNEP presented a review of recent work by his organization in the field of the transport of dangerous goods and related subjects. Many countries had now subscribed to the Basel Convention and progress was being made on a possible convention on the dumping of wastes. They were trying to integrate the concept of hazardous waste into existing regulations concerning the disposal and recovery of waste. Close co-operation existed between UNEP and ILO but it would be desirable to extend this to other interested agencies. They would favour an informal inter-agency meeting as soon as possible.
- 20. The Chairman pointed out that the Committee could not make a positive response to this suggestion at the present time. However this should not be taken as indicating any lack of interest in the work of UNEP and he invited UNEP to explain their ideas in writing to the secretariat.
- 21. The question was put as to whether if the Committee took no further action before the July meeting might that result in UNEP taking decisions without hearing the views of the Committee? The representative of UNEP assured the Committee that would not happen. The interim UNEP secretariat could not make any changes, that was up to member States.

WORK OF THE SUB-COMMITTEE OF EXPERTS ON THE TRANSPORT OF DANGEROUS GOODS AND RECOMMENDATIONS MADE BY IT, TOGETHER WITH SUBSEQUENT PROPOSALS ARISING THEREFROM

(a) Class 1 - Explosives

22. The Vice-Chairman of the Sub-Committee reviewed the work on explosives that had been accomplished during the meetings of the Sub-Committee. Progress had been made on the relationship between explosives and certain substances of

- Division 4.1 on Test Series 7 and new tests proposed by the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics and agreement had been reached to rationalize the packaging methods in chapter 10. The new arrangement of amalgamating the Group of Experts on Explosives with the Group of Rapporteurs had worked satisfactorily, but adequate time for explosives matters would need to be allocated at the fourth and sixth meetings of the Sub-Committee.
- 23. Documents ST/SG/AC.10/C.3/R.35, -/R.36 and -/R.37, presented by the expert from the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, had proposed new tests to be added to the Manual of Tests and Criteria. Members of the Sub-Committee had prepared a number of questions about those tests and they were listed in document ST/SG/AC.10/R.266. The expert from the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics had responded to the questions in document ST/SG/AC.10/R.321 and had prepared document -/R.320 to replace the proposal in document ST/SG/AC.10/C.3/R.35.
- 24. The expert from Norway proposed, in document ST/SG/AC.10/R.319, adding "plastics, solid" to packing method E137 as had been done for several other packing methods by the Sub-Committee. It was so agreed.
- 25. In document ST/SG/AC.10/R.294, the expert from the United States proposed a further entry for "Jet perforating guns". After some discussion the proposal was accepted.
- 26. The expert from Germany presented document ST/SG/AC.10/R.280 which contained a proposed new entry for Urea Nitrate. After an exchange of views the document was withdrawn and it will be replaced by a new document for consideration by the Sub-Committee.
- 27. Document ST/SG/AC.10/R.270 consists of a consolidated text of all the revisions to the Recommendations as contained in the reports of the first three sessions of the Sub-Committee. After making a few minor changes, the Committee adopted all those revisions that relate to Class 1.
- 28. The expert from the United Kingdom presented document -/R.290 which proposed undertaking a major revision of chapter 10. There was some support for it, although other experts cautioned against further major changes to the Recommendations at the moment. One suggestion was to make changes in two steps; first to amend some particular problem areas, and secondly to completely revise the chapter at a later date.
- 29. The following items of future work on Class 1 were proposed:
 - 1. Listing and classification
 - 2. Interface with other Classes
 - 3. Provision for storage during the course of transport
 - 4. Simplification of packing methods
 - 5. Manual of Tests and Criteria:
 - improved presentation
 - bringing material up-to-date
 - introduction of new tests
 - 6. Distinction between Division 1.3 and 1.4, also between 1.4C and 1.4S.

30. The proposals for new test methods, put forward by the expert from the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics in document ST/SG/AC.10/R.321 (which revised proposals in documents ST/SG/AC.10/C.3/R.36 and -/C.3/R.37) and -/R.320, were studied by a small drafting group. As a result of this work the Committee was able to adopt two new tests (impact and friction) for insertion in the Manual of Tests and Criteria. A third test (DDT) will be revised further and a new document submitted to the Sub-Committee.

(b) Class 2 - Gases

- 31. Document ST/SG/AC.10/C.3/R.118, introduced by the expert from Canada, proposed a modified classification for Anhydrous Ammonia. After some discussion a new classification for the substance was agreed.
- 32. Document ST/SG/AC.10/R.276 concerning reduced size labels for gas cylinders was presented jointly by the observers from CPI and HMAC, under the sponsorship of Germany. After an exchange of views a modified proposal was adopted to become a new paragraph 13.4.9.
- 33. The Committee considered document ST/SG/AC.10/R.312 which had been prepared jointly by the experts from Canada and the United States of America. This document consolidated the revision to the provisions for Class 2, as developed at the three sessions of the Sub-Committee. A number of corrections and improvements were made to the proposed text.
- 34. The observer from IMO pointed out that there were a number of differences between the proposed revision of chapter 2 and the gas entries in the IMDG Code. It was agreed that that was regrettable, particularly as it affected multimodal tank transport. IMO was invited to prepare a document identifying those differences for the Sub-Committee.
- 35. In relation to the proposed paragraph 1.17.2 (c), the expert from the United States of America gave his opinion that any effects caused by refrigerated gases, due to their low temperature, should not be considered as corrosive effects.
- 36. Document ST/SG/AC.10/R.336 presented by the expert from the United States of America, proposed a re-classification of three gases. The changes were adopted. He also proposed, in document ST/SG/AC.10/R.298, a change to the flammability test requirements. After including a reference to ISO Standard 10156-90, this was adopted.
- 37. The expert from Germany presented an unofficial paper concerning the corrosive effect of certain gases. It was agreed that this should be considered during the next biennium and a formal document should be prepared.
- 38. Document ST/SG/AC.10/C.3/R.72/Rev.2 had been prepared by the experts from the Netherlands and the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics and two proposals were adopted. Some of the suggestions in the paper had been incorporated into document ST/SG/AC.10/R.312.
- 39. The Committee agreed that document ST/SG/AC.10/R.312, with the adopted changes mentioned above, should replace all the existing provisions for Class 2; except that some minor changes concerning aerosols were required.

- 40. Documents ST/SG/AC.10/C.2/R.671, -/R.672 and ST/SG/AC.10/C.3/R.72/Rev.2 should be further considered during the next biennium. Document ST/SG/AC.10/C.2/R.604 was withdrawn in the light of decisions already taken.
- 41. The expert from Italy regretted that the Committee had made some changes to the classification of gases on the basis of alignment with the IMDG Code. Data sheets had not been provided, which would have been the correct procedure.
- 42. Two amendments to rearrange the provisions for aerosols were presented in an unofficial paper. These proposals were seen to be of an editorial nature and were adopted.

(c) Division 4.1 - Flammable solids

- 43. The observer from IMO drew attention to the policy adopted by his Organization of not making major changes to the IMDG Code at intervals of less than 4 years or complete revisions at intervals of less than 10 years. The requirements for Division 4.1 had been revised for the amendment to the IMDG Code which came into force on 1 January 1991; IMO would be reluctant to make further changes to that Division. In any case the proposed generic entries for Division 4.1 were of a similar form to those just introduced for Division 5.2, so it would be preferable to see how the system worked in practice for Division 5.2 before extending it to other divisions.
- 44. Moreover, IMO felt that the proposals were not fully developed. For instance the medical first aid aspects of the new entries for Division 4.1 had not been considered.
- 45. The observer from OCTI pointed out that his Organization was in a similar position as their regulations would be amended in 1992 so as to align Class 4.1 with the new IMDG Code. A further change would not be made for some years.
- 46. The Chairman responded by pointing out that the proposed changes only affected a part of Division 4.1. It was regrettable that IMO had not been represented at any of the meetings of the Sub-Committee and had not made their comments earlier. The Sub-Committee had spent a lot of time developing those changes and the Committee should bring this work to a conclusion. It would be left for each mode to decide when to introduce any new recommendations into their regulations. If IMO saw a need to look at the medical first aid aspects of the new entries, this could either be dealt with by IMO itself or written proposals could be put before the Sub-Committee.
- 47. Document ST/SG/AC.10/C.3/R.126 concerning screening tests, was briefly introduced by the expert from Japan. However, he announced his intention to replace it with a new document for consideration by the Sub-Committee.
- 48. The expert from Japan then presented an informal paper suggesting that Azodicarbonamide does not meet the definition of a self-reactive substance and proposing to delete this entry from chapter 2. The Committee recognized that this was a related rather than a self-reactive substance, although criteria for related substances had not yet been established. The proposal was not adopted.

- 49. The expert from the Netherlands presented document ST/SG/AC.10/C.3/R.138 concerning a data base which was intended for information only.
- 50. The expert from France explained that his document ST/SG/AC.10/C.3/R.148 contained the justification for using a temperature of 75° C in the definition of self-reactive substances. That temperature had been accepted by the Sub-Committee and the Committee made no objection to its use.
- 51. The Chairman drew attention to the documents which dealt with the introduction of generic entries for self-reactive substances. Document ST/SG/AC.10/R.268 was the report of the Working Group on self-reactive substances, -/R.300 detailed some consequential amendments which would be necessary, -/R.310 proposed an extended table 14.2, while -/R.335 listed some possible improvements to the proposed text.
- 52. The observer from CEFIC questioned the deletion of paragraph 14.1.3. The Committee decided that, although this paragraph might not be strictly necessary, it would be preferable to retain it.
- 53. In describing the meaning of the term "related substances", the Committee agreed to use the wording contained in document -/R.300.
- 54. A proposal to include provision for self-reactive substances to be transported in tanks was defeated on the grounds that most of those substances were solids and that there had been no experience of using tanks.
- 55. The Committee compared the proposed lists of currently assigned self-reactive substances as shown in documents -/R.300 and -/R.310. It was agreed to adopt the former.
- 56. It was felt to be unnecessary to require a classification notification to be sent to the competent authority of the country of destination. This was not required for Division 5.2 and self-reactive substances could be dealt with in the same way.
- 57. The Committee adopted the new provisions for self-reactive substances as shown in document -/R.268 and modified by documents -/R.300 and -/R.335, with a few minor changes.
- 58. A small drafting group edited the proposals for self-reactive substances contained in documents ST/SG/AC.10/R.268, -/R.300 and -/R.335 and made further minor revisions. This consolidated text, representing a complete amendment to the provisions for self-reactive substances, was adopted by the Committee.

(d) <u>Division 6.2 - Infectious substances</u>

- 59. The expert from Canada considered that the new special provision for toxins needed clarification. New wording was proposed in document ST/SG/AC.10/R.283 and the Committee agreed that this would make the meaning clearer.
- 60. The Sub-Committee had already discussed at length the need to include in the Recommendations provisions for the transport of genetically modified organisms or micro-organisms, but without reaching any firm decisions. The expert from Italy put forward, in document ST/SG/AC.10/R.315, a proposal for

an appropriate new entry in chapter 2 together with supporting text in other chapters. A number of other possibilities were explored and eventually a text was developed which was acceptable to a majority of the Committee.

(e) Packaging provisions

- 61. Document ST/SG/AC.10/R.272, presented by the expert from the United States, described difficulties in maintaining the required humidity for the testing of certain packagings. It was decided to solve this problem, not in the way proposed, but by adding an appropriate Note to paragraph 9.7.2.3. A similar change would be made in the test requirements for fibreboard IBCs.
- 62. In document ST/SG/AC.10/R.289, the expert from the United Kingdom presented a revised proposal to permit the use of shrink- or stretch-wrapped trays for limited quantities of dangerous goods this being a sturdy and widely used form of outer packaging. With some words added, the proposal was adopted by a vote of 9 to 3.
- 63. The experts from Germany, the Netherlands and the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics expressed their concern at this decision as neither RID/ADR nor IMO allow the use of untested shrink- or stretch-wrapped trays. On the contrary IMO only allows untested packagings for UN Nos. 1133, 1210, 1263 and 1866 under very specific requirements.
- 64. Document ST/SG/AC.10/R.297, from the United States, sought to clarify the wording proposed by the Sub-Committee for the new "SP" packagings. The Committee developed other wording which avoided any ambiguity. The expert from Sweden then pointed out that the letters "SP" were already in use to denote the Swedish Testing Institute and so should not be used in the UN marking. To avoid confusion, it was agreed to use the letter "V" instead.
- 65. The expert from the Netherlands presented document ST/SG/AC.10/R.302 which sought to revise the requirements for the testing of combination packagings as developed by the Sub-Committee. After some discussion the proposal was defeated.
- 66. In document ST/SG/AC.10/R.303 several suggestions were put forward concerning the application of the UN mark to tested packagings. Although those suggestions were not adopted, it was recognized that a problem existed in relation to the position of the mark and this would need to be looked at again.
- 67. In document ST/SG/AC.10/R.337 the expert from the United Kingdom sought to rescind the decision of the Sub-Committee concerning the drop test for composite IBCs. However, a majority of the Committee felt the decision should stand.
- 68. The leak testing of every packaging manufactured on a high speed production line is difficult to achieve satisfactorily. A solution was proposed in document ST/SG/AC.10/R.339 whereby a quality assurance system (based on ISO standards 2859 and 9002) could be used and it would not then be necessary to test every single packaging. Although recognizing that a problem

existed, a number of experts were reluctant to abandon the established principle of 100% testing. It was agreed that the Sub-Committee should consider a revised proposal which took into account the comments made.

(f) N.O.S. entries

- 69. The Sub-Committee had agreed to the introduction of a number of new N.O.S. entries into chapter 2 (as shown in document ST/SG/AC.10/R.270), many of these making a distinction between organic and inorganic substances. In Cocument ST/SG/AC.10/R.334 the expert from the United States of America argued that such a distinction was meaningless in the case of flammable solids, N.O.S. A majority of the Committee felt that the distinction should be maintained so as to differentiate between possible different emergency response procedures.
- 70. This decision led on to the problem of whether the more general entry of "Flammable solids, N.O.S." (UN No. 1325) should be retained. It was eventually agreed that the best solution was to change the entry, as it exists in the sixth edition of the Recommendations, to read "Flammable solids, organic, N.O.S."
- 71. The expert from the United States expressed his concern ove. '' , action of the Committee. He felt that it would be very difficult to implement such a major change into the United States' regulations until a corresponding change was adopted and implemented by IMO.
- 72. In document ST/SG/AC.10/R.333, the expert from the United States of America suggested that a number of the proposed new N.O.S. entries for pyrophoric substances were not really necessary. The Committee agreed with that view and all eight proposed entries in document -/R.333 will not be put into chapter 2. It was also agreed that suitable additions should be made to table 12.2 for solutions of Division 5.1.
- 73. The Committee discussed provisions for the transport of solids containing flammable liquids or other dangerous goods. Such provisions would be directly applicable to the transport of some wastes, such as contaminated soil. The expert from the United States of America presented in document ST/SG/AC.10/R.299 proposals to address the problem. With some modification the proposals were adopted.
- 74. The Committee examined proposals for modifying the treatment of N.O.S. entries in the published Recommendations. These were contained in document ST/SG/AC.10/R.306 of the expert from the Netherlands and document ST/SG/AC.10/R.277 of the observer from ICAO. It was agreed that the book of Recommendations would be more "user friendly" by making the following changes:
 - 1. Table 13.3 to be deleted;
- 2. Those N.O.S. entries required to be used with a technical name to be indicated in chapter 2 by an asterisk or other suitable symbol;
- 3. A new appendix listing all N.O.S. entries and appropriate generic entries from chapter 2 to be inserted between the main body of the Recommendations and the Index.

The expert from the Netherlands offered to prepare the new Appendix for the secretariat.

75. Documents ST/SG/AC.10/R.326 and -/R.327 proposed some changes to the existing N.O.S. entries. The proposals in the first paper were agreed and those in the second paper were not accepted.

(g) Listing and Classification

- 76. Proposals concerned with the transport of controlled substances were put forward by the expert from the United Kingdom in document ST/SG/AC.10/C.3/R.109 and by the expert from Canada in document ST/SG/AC.10/R.284. Based on these documents, suitable additions to chapters 2 and 3 were developed.
- 77. The new entry proposed in document ST/SG/AC.10/C.3/R.29 was agreed. The report of the Sub-Committee's Working Group contained in document ST/SG/AC.10/R.267 was noted. The changed entry proposed in document ST/SG/AC.10/R.274 was accepted with a modification to chapter 12. Other changes to listing and classification proposed in documents ST/SG/AC.10/R.274, -/R.275, -/R.279, -/R.286 and -/R.293 were adopted. However the proposal in document ST/SG/AC.10/R.296 was not accepted.
- 78. Document ST/SG/AC.10/R.311 addressed the problem of substances named in chapter 2 but where, due to their physical or chemical composition, they do not meet the criteria for the class or division listed. The changes proposed were amended by the Committee and then adopted.
- 79. The observer from OCTI suggested a text to be added to chapter 1 to assist in the classification of mixtures. However, it was felt that this did not solve all the problems with mixtures and a solution would have to be sought during the next biennium. It was pointed out that the Committee had decided to create entries in chapter 2 which distinguished between organic and inorganic substances but there was no guidance for classifying a mixture of organic and inorganic substances.
- 80. A proposal for a further new entry in chapter 2, presented in document ST/SG/AC.10/R.301, was accepted by the Committee. Listing and classification proposals in documents ST/SG/AC.10/R.318, -/R.325, -/R.331 and -/R.332 were rejected. Listing and classification proposals in documents -/R.301, -/R.314, -/R.323 and -/R.328 were accepted, the last with a slight modification.

(h) Other matters

81. The Sub-Committee had, at its first session, agreed on a limitation to the degree of filling for tank-containers. In document ST/SG/AC.10/C.3/R.85 the expert from the Netherlands proposed a different restriction. It was pointed out that the United Kingdom marine authority had recently completed an extensive study of the subject and perhaps it would be preferable to wait until their report could be studied. The observer from IMO said that the report would be discussed at the next meeting of their CDG Sub-Committee. After some discussion the Committee confirmed the wording previously agreed by the Sub-Committee.

- 82. The expert from the United Kingdom expressed surprise at that decision. He felt it would be necessary for the Committee to return to the subject but this should be after the IMO meeting.
- 83. Document ST/SG/AC.10/R.221 from IMO had been discussed at the last session of the Committee. One outstanding item from that paper dealt with an inconsistency between the United Nations Recommendations and the IAEA Regulations. The United Nations required the UN number and the proper shipping name to be marked on every package but IAEA has no such requirement. It was agreed that harmonization should be sought between the two sets of rules, although the security implications of increased use of the name "radioactive" should not be overlooked. The secretariat was asked to contact IAEA with a view to developing suitable proposals for the United Nations Recommendations and/or the IAEA Regulations.
- 84. The Committee noted document ST/SG/AC.10/R.269, prepared by the secretariat, which recorded some discussions at the third session of the Sub-Committee.
- 85. The expert from Germany presented document ST/SG/AC.10/R.281 in which he suggested modifying the way the new term "water-reactive substances" would be introduced. This was seen to be a desirable improvement and was add ed.
- 86. In document ST/SG/AC.10/R.288 the expert from the United Kingdom suggested a change to the provisions for subsidiary risk labels, which at the moment were not always required for Packing Group III. If a Packing Group III hazard was the primary risk a label was needed, so why not require a label if that hazard was the subsidiary risk? Some experts felt that such a change would result in an undesirable proliferation of labels, particularly for the subsidiary risk of Division 6.1. Some such packages were already required by IMO to bear the "marine pollutant" label. As the proposal involved a major change, it was agreed that it should be left for further discussion by the Sub-Committee.
- 87. The expert from the Netherlands proposed (in document ST/SG/AC.10/R.305) the addition of a new paragraph in chapter 1 concerning the principles on which generic entries should be based. There was some support for the proposal but it was felt that modifications to the wording were necessary. A revised document will be prepared for the Sub-Committee.
- 88. Documents ST/SG/AC.10/R.324 and -/R.340 concerned minor amendments to the Recommendations. After a brief discussion document -/R.324 was withdrawn and the proposals in document -/R.340 were agreed.
- 89. In document ST/SG/AC.10/R.329 a proposal was made to alter the Sub-Committee decision about the temperature to be used as a dividing line between liquids and solids. There was some sympathy for the proposal but it was felt preferable to adopt the text of the Sub-Committee as shown in document ST/SG/AC.10/R.270.
- 90. The changes to the Recommendations developed at the three sessions of the Sub-Committee had been consolidated into document ST/SG/AC.10/R.270. Some editorial amendments to the sixth revised edition were presented in document ST/SG/AC.10/R.317 and they were all accepted. Two classification changes

shown in document ST/SG/AC.10/R.270 had been placed in square brackets awaiting a final decision by the Committee. It was agreed to confirm those entries so that they would be in line with action already taken by IMO and RID/ADR.

- 91. The expert from Canada regretted that yet again re-classification had been done without data sheets being available. The Chairman expressed the hope that at future sessions classification proposals would not be put forward without data sheets.
- 92. The Committee then adopted the whole of document ST/SG/AC.10/R.270, apart from those changes mentioned elsewhere in this report.
- 93. However, the Committee agreed on reflection not to add the proposed new special provision to the entry for Urea Hydrogen Peroxide (UN No. 1511).
- 94. In view of the considerable changes being made to the list of dangerous goods and elsewhere, the Committee felt it might be a good time to consider some other desirable improvements. Thus it was agreed that the following changes should be made:
- (1) the N.O.S. proper shipping names which included the words "liquids" or "solids" should be changed to "liquid" or "solid";
- (2) if the word "substance" appeared in a "liquid" or "solid" N.O.S. entry, it should be deleted;
- (3) the word "metallic" where applied to packagings, should be replaced by "metal":
- (4) introductory Note 2 to the Index should be changed to show that the letters "N.O.S." would not be used in determining the alphabetical order.

OTHER OUTSTANDING OR NEW PROPOSALS TO AMEND THE RECOMMENDATIONS

- 95. It was agreed that a number of documents under this agenda item should be deferred for discussion by the Sub-Committee, namely: documents ST/SG/AC.10/C.3/R.60/Rev.1, -/C.3/R.63, -/C.3/R.101, -/C.3/R.101/Corr., -/C.3/R.132.
- 96. The introduction of a "container packing certificate", as proposed by the expert from the United Kingdom in document ST/SG/AC.10/C.3/R.111, was seen as desirable by some experts. The view was also expressed that extra documents should only be introduced if really essential. It was agreed that the proposal, together with a related proposal in document ST/SG/AC.10/R.313, needed further discussion by the Sub-Committee.
- 97. The expert from Germany suggested (in document ST/SG/AC.10/R.131) an addition to the definition of "substances liable to spontaneous combustion". While that addition might be technically correct, the Committee felt that there was not sufficient justification to alter a basic definition.

- 98. In document ST/SG/AC.10/R.273 presented by the observer from HMAC, a proposal was put forward for the inclusion in the Recommendations of provisions for training. The Committee welcomed this document as they recognized the need to make recommendations on the subject. Indeed the lack of such provisions had been a criticism of the United Nations Recommendations made by the ILO. Some modifications were made to the proposal and it was then adopted for inclusion in chapter 1.
- 99. The expert from Canada proposed, in document ST/SG/AC.10/R.285, some changes to the provisions for Lithium batteries. As the document was quite detailed he suggested that it be held over to the next session of the Sub-Committee.
- 100. Document ST/SG/AC/10/R.287, presented by the expert from the United Kingdom, suggested an improved presentation of the provisions for labels which was adopted. While some experts wished to take the opportunity to revise the existing requirements, it was eventually agreed not to change them for the time being.
- 101. The observer from IMO said he thought the provisions for Class 7 placards did not completely agree with the IAEA Regulations. The secretariat was requested to investigate the matter.
- 102. Minor changes to the Recommendations were proposed in documents ST/SG/AC.10/R.292, -/R.304, -/R.307 and -/R.309. After some discussion the proposal in document ST/SG/AC.10/R.304 was withdrawn, while the proposals in the other documents were adopted.

PUBLICATION OF THE REVISED RECOMMENDATIONS

- 103. Referring to document ST/SG/AC.10/C.3/R.147 the expert from the Netherlands stated that he had agreed in principle to the decisions taken on N.O.S. entries for the divisions of Class 4 and for Division 5.1. However, he considered this as an interim measure pending a further detailed development of a generic entry system in the future. He then suggested a rational numbering system for the new N.O.S. entries, which would indicate the relevant Division. The Committee decided that such a partial change from the current random system would only cause confusion and could not be accepted at the moment.
- 104. The expert from the Netherlands felt that in developing the Recommendations, the following points needed to be stressed:
- (1) representatives of all modes should be present at Sub-Committee sessions, preferably with a mandate from their organizations. They would be in a position to point out the consequences of decisions that might be taken;
- (2) the Committee should assist in harmonization by putting forward a scheme of problems with priority for their solution;
- (3) proposals brought up for discussion at modal meetings but which have multi-modal implications should be passed first to the Committee for possible amendment to the Recommendations.

- 105. A member of the secretariat presented examples of improved printing types and arrangements which could be used for the next edition of the Recommendations, these would give greater clarity and reduced length. The Committee agreed that such improvements would be welcomed at a suitable time but would not like the secretariat to embark on any action which would delay publication of the next edition.
- 106. It was acknowledged that an editorial re-arrangement of the list of dangerous goods would eliminate many wasted lines. This change would be made some time but it might not be possible for the next edition.

PROGRAMME OF WORK

- 107. The following programme of work for 1991-1992 was adopted:
 - (a) Matters concerning Class 1 (4)
 - (b) Review of chapters 9 and 16, including (4)

metal drum reprocessing (ICDR)

leakproofness testing/quality assurance (SEFEL)

compatibility testing (Germany)

solid/liquid definition (CEFIC)

certain IBCs - Packing Group I (United Kingdom)

vibration test (United States of America)

stack test (FDTC)

- (c) Review of chapter 13 (United States of America, United Kingdom) (5)
- (d) Classes of goods and wastes having dangerous properties not covered by existing classification (Italy) (4)
 - (e) Review of Class 8 (CEFIC, Germany) (5)
- (f) Classification of flammable liquids (Australia, Germany, ISO, United Kingdom) (5)
 - (g) Amendments to N.O.S. entries (OCTI) (5)
 - (h) Multi-modal tank tables (United States of America, IMO) (4)
 - (i) Excepted/limited quantities (United States of America) (5)
 - (j) Harmonization with IMO (IMO) (4)
 - (k) Lithium batteries (Canada, United States of America) (5)
 - (1) Test methods for Division 5.1 (France) (5)

- (m) Routine listing and classification
- (n) Liaison with other international bodies
- (o) Presentation of the Recommendations
- (p) Other business
- 108. The Committee agreed that the items marked (4) should, so far as practicable, be dealt with at the Fourth Session of the Sub-Committee in July 1991, items marked (5) at the Fifth Session in December 1991 with all items reviewed a second time at the Sixth Session in July 1992. The Committee also agreed only to deal with urgent new matters at its Seventeenth Session in December 1992.
- 109. It was agreed that the following documents should be carried forward to future sessions of the Sub-Committee: ST/SG/AC.10/C.3/R.9/Rev.1; -/C.3/R.13; -/C.3/R.60/Rev.1; -/C.3/R.63; -/C.3/R.94; -/C.3/R.101; -/C.3/R.101/Rev.1; -/C.3/R.111; -/C.3/R.112; -/C.3/R.132; -/C.3/R.143; ST/SG/AC.10/R.288; -/R.285; -/R.313.

CALENDAR OF MEETINGS FOR THE BIENNIUM 1991-1992

110. The Committee was advised that the following periods have been allocated for their sessions during the next biennium:

1-12 July 1991	Sub-Committee of the Economic and Social Council of Experts on the Transport of Dangerous Goods (fourth session)
2-13 December 1991	Sub-Committee of the Economic and Social Council of Experts on the Transport of Dangerous Goods (fifth session)
6-17 July 1992	Sub-Committee of the Economic and Social Council of Experts on the Transport of Dangerous Goods (sixth session)
7-16 December 1992	Committee of the Economic and Social Council of Experts on the Transport of Dangerous Goods (seventeenth session)

- 111. These dates were based on availability of facilities and the need to achieve an even distribution of meetings serviced by the ECE secretariat. Experts were reminded that for documents to be correctly processed for the next session of the Sub-Committee, they would need to reach Geneva by 15 April 1991.
- 112. The Chairman suggested that heads of delegations of Committee Members should discuss with the Director of the Transport Division the question of the chairmanship of future sessions of the Sub-Committee. The Committee invited the Director to attempt to establish a consensus for a nomination.

ANY OTHER BUSINESS

- 113. Following the discussion of future work on Class 1 recorded in paragraph 30, the following documents were considered: ST/SG/AC.10/R.291, -/R.295, -/R.308, -/316, -/R.330 and -/R.341. The expert from the Netherlands explained that, on reflection, he would withdraw his documents ST/SG/AC.10/C.2/R.671, -/C.2/R.672 and ST/SG/AC.10/C.3/R.72/Rev.2 and replace them with updated proposals. In document ST/SG/AC.10/R.291 the expert from the United Kingdom asked for guidance on dealing with related substances in Division 4.1, but the Committee did not consider this merited inclusion. In document ST/SG/AC.10/R.295 the expert from the United States of America made a number of suggestions, some of them new. The Committee accepted all items except the proposed development of hazard levels for gases. The Committee agreed that the reprocessing of metal drums should be included in a review of chapters 9 and 16, as proposed in documents ST/SG/AC.10/R.295 and -/R.330 from the expert from the United Kingdom.
- 114. The suggested development of a comprehensive system of generic entries, as outlined in documents ST/SG/AC/10/R.308 and -/R.341 by the expert from the Netherlands was discussed in depth. Most experts considered that for the time being activity in this direction should be confined to the necessary minimum entailed by work in the modal forums to harmonize existing N.O.S. entries. Some experts encouraged the Netherlands' initiative as an objective for the longer term.
- 115. The expert from the Netherlands expressed his regret at the apparent reluctance within the Committee to take a long-term view on the development of a generic entry system for all classes. He also regretted that while classes 2, 3, 6.1 and 8 are to be reviewed by the RID/ADR Joint Meeting, this was not recognized as an opportunity to take the lead in the harmonization process between the modes.
- 116. In document ST/SG/AC.10/R.316 the expert from Italy proposed a working group to define classes of goods and wastes having properties not covered by the existing classification. It was recalled that UNEP was reviewing this important subject (para. 109) and the Committee invited the expert from Italy to consider this activity and to prepare specific proposals.

REPORT TO THE ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL COUNCIL

- 117. The Chairman read out a first draft for a resolution which the Committee might wish to submit to the Economic and Social Council, along with the report of the Committee's activities. This was based on the text of the previous resolution 1989/104.
- 118. The Committee again agreed to request that the Economic and Social Council consider setting up a special fund to support the Committee's activities utilizing, <u>inter alia</u>, the income from the sale of its publications.
- 119. The Committee regretted that its request for one additional professional and one additional general service staff to be made available to support its activities, contained in resolution 1983/7, 1985/7, 1985/9, 1986/66, 1987/54 and 1989/104 had not yet been implemented.

- 120. The Committee agreed to a draft resolution for submission to the Economic and Social Council as set out in annex 1 to this report. Members of the Committee and observers representing Governments were requested to contact their officials in regard to the work of the Committee and the resolution. In particular, representatives of Governments to the Economic and Social Council should be briefed on the subject.
- 121. For briefing purposes in this regard, the Committee was reminded of a document entitled "Terms of Reference of the Subsidiary Machinery of the Economic and Social Council ..." under ECOSOC number E/1983/INF.4. Topic E on page 37 provides a description of the functions and purposes of the Commmittee which may be helpful to representatives in New York.

TRIBUTE TO CAPTAIN H. WARDELMANN

122. The Chairman announced that Captain Hubert Wardelmann, who was unable to attend the session, would be retiring from IMO at the end of 1990 and thus would no longer represent IMO at sessions of the Committee. For 20 years he had devoted himself to improving the safety of the transport of dangerous goods, in particular by striving for the harmonization of the rules of the various international organizations. His contribution to the work of the Committee had been considerable and his presence would be sorely missed in the future. The Committee endorsed unanimously the sentiments expressed by the Chairman.

ADOPTION OF THE REPORT

123. The Committee adopted the report on its sixteenth session and the annexes thereto.
